2017

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Reynaldo Thomas Martinez,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

A jury convicted Defendant Reynaldo Thomas Martinez of aggravated robbery and failure to stop at injury accident. *See* Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-6-302, 41-6a-401.3(3)(a). [R.381]. He was acquitted of domestic violence assault. *See id.* § 76-5-102. [R.381]. Defendant now appeals his convictions.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to exclude unreliable eyewitness identification evidence?
2. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to request a *Long* instruction?
3. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to object to the admission of hearsay statements that ran directly afoul of the Confrontation Clause?
3. Did defense counsel's several missteps throughout trial, combined with plain error by the district court, warrant reversal under the cumulative-error doctrine?

All of the issues raised on appeal involve claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. As these claims are raised for the first time on appeal, they were not preserved below, and no statement of preservation is provided. *Cf.* Utah R. App. P.

24(a)(5)(B). Instead, each of these claims operate within an exception to this court's preservation requirement:

Ineffective assistance of counsel is thought of as an exception to preservation because a claim for ineffective assistance does not mature until after counsel makes an error. Thus, while it is not a typical exception to preservation, it allows criminal defendants to attack their counsel's failure to effectively raise an issue below that would have resulted in a different outcome. Such a claim can be brought in a post-trial motion or on direct appeal.

State v. Johnson, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 23, 416 P.3d 443 (citation omitted). The standard of review applicable to all of these claims is as follows:

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law. To prove ineffective assistance, [Defendant] must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonable professional judgment and (2) that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial—i.e., that it affected the outcome of the case.

State v. Christensen, 2014 UT App 166, ¶ 10, 331 P.3d 1128 (cleaned up).

The other issue raised on appeal also involves plain errors committed by the district court. Plain error is also an exception to preservation requirement.

The plain error exception enables the appellate court to balance the need for procedural regularity with the demands of fairness. At bottom, the plain error rule's purpose is to permit us to avoid injustice. To demonstrate plain error, a defendant must establish that (i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant, or phrased differently, our confidence in the verdict is undermined.

State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 13, 10 P.3d 346 (cleaned up).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Defendant with three crimes for conduct alleged to have occurred during three distinct episodes one Saturday morning. First, a witness reported seeing a man assault a young woman. Second, a different witness reported that a masked man demanded his phone and wallet while aiming a gun at his head. Third, yet another individual was involved in a car accident, and the driver of the other car exited his vehicle and fled the scene. For the second and third episodes, the jury convicted Defendant of aggravated robbery and failure to stop at injury accident. The jury acquitted Defendant of assault.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On appeal from a jury trial, this court views the facts in a light most favorable to the verdict. *See State v. Liti*, 2015 UT App 186, ¶ 3 n.2, 355 P.3d 1078. Given that Defendant was acquitted on one count and convicted on two, Defendant attempts to convey the facts in accordance with those separate verdicts. He also presents conflicting evidence as necessary to develop the issues on appeal. *See State v. Bluff*, 2002 UT 66, ¶ 2, 52 P.3d 1210.

Prior to trial, counsel had not firmly pre-determined the admissibility of such evidence with the trial court, the gatekeeper of any material presented to the jury. Nor had counsel retained an expert witness to testify about the pitfalls of eyewitness identification. At the trial itself, counsel failed to require a *Long* instruction.

The Events of January 30, 2016

On a cold and snowy morning, Mindy Sipes heard a car horn and saw a girl trying to get out of a car four houses down from where Sipes stood, on her porch. [R.597–99]. She then saw a man run out of a nearby house, grab the girl, and start assaulting her. [R.599]. The man got in the car, and Sipes decided to follow him while she talked to 911. [R.602, 605]. She watched as he pulled straight through an intersection that led out of the neighborhood, causing an accident. [R.608]. The man jumped out of the car and ran away from the accident. [R.609]. She continued following him in her car, ending up at a Harmon’s grocery store. [R.609]. He went into the grocery store and she was still waiting in the parking lot when he came back out. [R.611].

Mindy Sipes was shown a number of photographs at trial, which she claimed depicted the man she saw enter Harmon’s. [R.616]. She could not testify when the picture was taken. [R.617]. She was not asked—by either the State or defense counsel—whether she had ever seen those photographs before. [R.616–18]. Trial counsel objected, “I don’t think it’s reliable.” [R.618–19]. The court overruled the objection and admitted the photographs into evidence. [R.619]. The exhibits admitted under this line of testimony and over the “[s]ame objection” were Exhibits 34 through 47. [R.616–20]. Sipes identified Reynaldo Martinez, who was the only

non-attorney person seated at counsel's table as the man who entered the Harmon's that day. [R.621].

While waiting in the Harmon's parking lot, Mindy Sipes noticed another truck that had followed the man and was waiting in the parking lot. [R.610–11]. The driver of that truck was Lee Clay. R.646–652. Clay had been driving behind the second car involved in the car accident earlier that morning. [R.647–48]. A male left the scene of the accident and walked quickly into Harmon's. [R.650–51]. Clay did not actually see anyone exit the car but saw the driver side door pop open. [R.664]. Clay followed the male into the Harmon's parking lot, where he eventually made contact with Sipes. [R.651–52]. It was snowing pretty heavily by the time the driver went into Harmon's. [R.664]. Clay was shown Exhibits 34 through 47 and testified that they depicted the "person that caused the accident in front of" him. [R.655].

Sometime before the car accident, David Barnes was outside snowblowing. [R.684, 669]. A young lady came running around the corner of a house with no coat on. [R.671]. The woman asked if she could borrow his cell phone and make one call. [R.672]. Then, a car came around the corner from the same the direction the woman had appeared from. [R.674]. The driver yelled multiple times at the woman to get in the car. [R.676].

David Barnes used his phone to take a picture of the car. [R.676]. As soon as he did, the driver came out of the car toward Barnes, holding a gun. [R.676–77].

The gun was a western-style, long-barreled, six-inch revolver. [R.677–78]. The driver demanded Barnes’s phone, which Barnes dropped in the snow. [R.679]. After bending down to retrieve the phone, the driver demanded, “I want your wallet too because I want to know where you live,” and took the wallet. [R.680]. Pre-trial proceedings did not address the stress or circumstances at issue when the identification was made.

Around the time the driver took David Barnes’s wallet, a neighbor—later identified as Troy Martinez, who was deceased by the time of trial—stuck his head outside his door and told the driver that the police were on their way. [R.682, 1038]. The driver got back in his car, which had tinted windows (plus, the snow prevented Barnes from seeing if anyone else was inside the car). [R.683]. Barnes then observed the car get T-boned by a female driver, Annie Vu. [R.684, 770–72].

Vu was driving down a snowy road when a car on a side street ran a stop sign. [R.772]. She had no time to stop and T-boned the other car. [R.772]. Her airbag deployed, and by the time it started to deflate, she noticed the driver of the other car was getting out of his vehicle, then started running up the street. [R.773]. A female approached Vu’s car from the neighborhood and opened the passenger door. [R.774]. She asked Vu “where did he go” and Vu “just told her he ran up the street.” [R.774]. Vu was “pretty sure” the person she saw running up the street was the same person who exited the other vehicle. [R.788].

A Raiders hat was found outside the other vehicle, on the ground. [R.821, 823]. Officer Hagemann, who collected the hat, did not place it in an evidence bag because he did not have one on the scene large enough to fit the hat. [R.823, 826]. A DNA expert matched a DNA sample from the hit with the profile obtained from a sample of Defendant's DNA. [R.1066, 1081–82].

Officer Hagemann also found a driver license on the ground by the driver side of the car. [R.824]. It belonged to Stevie Manzanarez, who was the registered owner of the vehicle. [R.824–25].

Jennifer Fish, a forensic investigator, testified that she was asked to process the vehicle Vu T-boned. [R.801]. Fish took DNA samples or swabs from the driver's side handle and gearshift. [R.811–12]. She did not perform an analysis of these samples; she is not a DNA analyst. R.812. She found latent prints on the interior door lock on the rear passenger door, which matched Defendant's fingerprints. [R.802, 804]. There were also latent prints found on the review mirror of the car, but there was not enough data from those prints to perform a comparison. [R.815]. Fish also found latent prints on the front passenger interior door lock, which matched Erika Vigil's prints. [R.808–09].

Erika Vigil was the woman David Barnes and Annie Vu interacted with the morning of the crash. [*Compare* R.673 (where Barnes says Exhibits 12 and 13 depict the woman he saw that morning), *and* R.774–75 (where Vu “believe[d], yes” that

the woman in Exhibits 12 and 13 was the woman who came to her car), *with* R.696 (where Officer Denning identifies the woman in Exhibits 12 and 13 as Erika Vigil)].

Officer Denning interviewed Vigil, who informed him that Defendant had not committed the crimes charged; instead it was someone she knew named Joey. [R.696, 700, 755, 767]. Officer Denning passed this name on to Detective Jeppson. [R.702–03 (Denning says he passed information on to the initial officer); R.838 (Jeppson says she was assigned as the initial officer on this case)]. Vigil was also interviewed by Detectives Jeppson and Hill. [R.841, 951]. Vigil told Detective Hill that Defendant was in the car the morning of the car accident but that he “wasn’t the one that did it.” [R.951]. She showed Detective Hill a picture of Joey from Facebook. [R.1028]. However, Detective Hill made it clear that he did not believe the story about Joey and did not preserve a screenshot of Joey’s Facebook profile. [R.1027, 1029].

“An Identification Case”

After the close of evidence, the district court observed, “This is an identification case, as everyone seems to have acknowledged and argued.” [R.1111]. Counsel did little to challenge the scope of the eyewitness identification or obtain a trial court gatekeeping ruling before the evidence was presented to the jury. No defense expert witness of eyewitness identification testified. The flaws and

deficiencies of the identification policies and procedures had not been explained to the jury prior to them receiving the evidence.

Mindy Sipes testified that the man she saw on January 30 had short hair, a tattoo or something on the left side of his face, was 5'4" or 5'5", in his mid-twenties, wearing black baggy sweats, a white t-shirt, and a gray hoodie. [R.601]. The closest she was to him was when he drove past. [R.604]. At the time he drove past, she was dialing 911 and running to the garage to get her car. [R.605]. On cross-examination, Sipes admitted that she did not include in her written report that she saw something on the driver's face. [R.637]. She claimed that she remembered certain information right before trial that she had never said before. [R.637–38]. But counsel did not seek a continuance of the trial based on Ms. Sipes' newfound recollection, which was completely different than her memory right then and there at the time of the incident. No defense witness testified about the unreliable nature of a witness' subsequent recollection much later after the fact.

Mindy Sipes was never shown a photo lineup because she was not sure she would recognize him again. [R.1014]. David Barnes, also, was not shown a photo lineup. [R.1015].

Lee Clay testified that he had been shown a photo lineup of possible suspects and was unable to pick out an individual as the one involved in the car accident.

[R.658]. He also said that he could “[p]robably not” recognize today the male that he followed to Harmon’s, unless he was wearing the same clothes. [R.658].

David Barnes testified that the driver of the car, who pointed a gun at him and took his phone and wallet, was wearing a maroon bandanna—or it could have been brown—as a “mask,” a Raiders hat, and a hoodie. [R.677, 685, 692]. He was slender build and medium height. [R.685]. Barnes believed the driver’s ethnicity to be Hispanic. [R.685]. These observations were made while a gun was pointed at his head. [R.679]. It was gray outside and snowing “fairly good.” [R.692].

Annie Vu was unable to get a good look at the driver of the car she T-boned. [R.773]. She “only saw basically the back of him running down the road.” [R.773]. All she knew was that he had dark hair that was cut “pretty short.” [R.781]. It did not look like he had a jacket, but he was wearing light blue jeans and a sweatshirt. [R.781, 789].

Detective Hill reviewed surveillance video from Harmon’s. [R.939]. Without Detective Hill identifying who was depicted in the video, the State asked a question regarding “when the defendant is entering Harmon’s.” [R.941]. No objection was made. [R.941]. Subsequent to this statement, Detective Hill identified in open court the Defendant as the person on the surveillance video. [R.945].

Detective Hill also created a photo array of possible suspects, which was shown to Lee Clay and Troy Martinez. [R.1037]. Tony Martinez identified someone

other than Reynaldo Martinez, and Clay was not able to identify anyone from the lineup. [R.1038, 1040]. Nevertheless, Detective Hill was permitted to testify, without objection, that Lee Clay first went to the photo of Reynaldo and hesitated or “he held that one for a while.” [R.1040].

Defense counsel approved of the jury instructions provided by the district court and the State with “[n]o objection.” [R.1122]. Those instructions did not contain a *Long* instruction regarding eyewitness identification. [*Generally* R.352–75].

Body Camera Video

When defense counsel first attempted to elicit information about Joey, the State objected that such information was hearsay. [R.700]. While the court initially sustained that objection, [R.700], it later reversed its ruling and found that the statement regarding Joey being the suspect in this case was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted; it was instead used to show context and a failure of police to investigate all leads. [R.754]. Then the court concluded that if it ruled that the statement about Joey was not used for the truth, “it is as true for one side as it is true for the other side.” [R.761].

When Detective Jeppson began laying foundation for her body camera video, which captured her interview with Jeppson, defense counsel agreed, “I’m not going to object to having this played right now.” [R.842–43]. The video was accordingly

played for the jury in its entirety, without objection. [R.853; *see generally* R.1399–1429].

Additional Facts

One of the jurors recognized Officer Denning when he took the stand. [R.752]. She informed the bailiff that she used to work with him while the other jurors were within earshot. [R.752]. Defense counsel did not move for a mistrial, and the district court sua sponte found that no error was made in not moving for a mistrial and any error was not prejudicial. [R.752, 754].

An Officer Maxfield was involved in the execution of a search warrant on Erika Vigil’s apartment. [R.862]. There, he found a BB gun, .40 caliber handgun ammunition, and a holster. [R.864–73]. Initially, defense counsel objected to the BB gun being discussed, arguing it was irrelevant because it was not a revolver. [R.864]. The judge agreed that the BB gun was irrelevant. [R.866].

Defense counsel also objected to mention of the holster but hedged that if the court was inclined to let it in, they would withdraw their objection to the BB gun. [R.872–73]. Outside the presence of the jury, the court inquired whether someone would be able to testify that the particular holster found served a long-barreled pistol. [R.873]. Officer Maxfield replied, “I couldn’t tell you either way.” [R.873]. The court then explained, “I will allow it on the testimony that it would fit a long-barreled gun and possibly a revolver. If you can’t say that, I won’t.” [R.873]. In response,

Officer Maxfield reversed himself and assured the court, “I can say that, yeah. I can say that was made for a revolver or it wasn’t.” [R.873].

No objection was made to this exchange between the court and the witness. [R.873–74]. Instead, defense counsel withdrew its objection to the BB gun. [R.874]. Officer Maxfield went on to testify that the holster found at the residence would fit a long-barreled revolver. [R.878].

Officer Maxfield also testified that Defendant’s father was at the apartment when the search warrant was executed and that he knew the father well. [R.881]. Because of Officer Maxfield’s position in law enforcement, defense counsel argued that the statement “Reynaldo Martinez, Senior, who I do know well,” cast dispersions on Defendant by suggesting criminal connections. [R.881, 904–05]. The district court denied the motion for a mistrial, finding the statement was not elicited, was made during cross-examination, was not degrading, and was not emphasized. [R.910].

During cross-examination of Detective Hill, defense counsel elicited that Vigil was arrested for obstructing justice in conjunction with this case. [R.1022].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A lot went wrong in Defendant’s trial. Given the multiplicity of errors, this is the sort of unique case that warrants reversal under the cumulative error doctrine. But even without reference to all of the several errors that combined to reduce

confidence in the jury's verdicts, there are two glaring errors that independently require reversal.

First, and most critically, this was a case that turned on eyewitness identification. Yet defense counsel failed to ensure the jury received critical information regarding the shortcomings of eyewitness identifications—information that was directly relevant to the specific shortcomings involved in this case.

Second, defense counsel allowed the jury to essentially hear from a witness who was not under oath, was not present at trial, and was not subject to cross-examination. By accepting or acquiescing to the district court's broad pronouncement that a hearsay ruling on one specific statement applied to an entire interview, defense counsel obliterated the protections provided by our rules against hearsay and the Confrontation Clause.

ARGUMENT

For arguments involving ineffective assistance of counsel, it is of course necessary for Defendant to demonstrate both that defense counsel's performance was objectively deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced Defendant.

See State v. Christensen, 2014 UT App 166, ¶ 10, 331 P.3d 1128.¹

¹ The issues raised in this appeal are unusually fact-intensive. Given the brief length limitations, Mr. Martinez incorporates by reference each section into the other section.

I. DEFENSE COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY FAILING TO EXCLUDE EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE AND BY FAILING TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY

A. Defense Counsel Rendered Ineffective Assistance of Counsel When He Failed to Exclude Unreliable Eyewitness Identification Evidence

As a threshold gatekeeping function, the trial court and/or defense counsel must first screen eyewitness identification evidence to determine whether it should or should not be admissible at trial. Such a threshold determination was neglected below, which compounded the prejudice due to the omitted *Long* instruction. *See infra* Point I.B. *State v. Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, ¶ 10 n.1, 357 P.3d 20, *cert. granted*, 364 P.3d 48 (Utah 2015), lends guidance on the issue.

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