2017

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Reynaldo Thomas Martinez,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

On the prejudice element, Martinez must show “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

Proving both deficient performance and prejudice requires actual proof—neither can be “a speculative matter but must be a demonstrable reality.” *State v. Munguia*, 2011 UT 5, ¶30, 253 P.3d 1082 (cleaned up). “It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the strong presumption that counsel” rendered “reasonable professional assistance.” *Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 23 (2013) (citation and quotation omitted). Thus, any record gaps are construed in favor of finding both that counsel performed adequately and that the defendant suffered no prejudice.

State v. Litherland, 2000 UT 76, ¶17, 12 P.3d 92; *see also Codianna v. Morris*, 660 P.2d 1101, 1113 (Utah 1983).

A. Counsel was not ineffective by not challenging the admission of surveillance photos and eyewitness identifications and by not seeking a *Long* instruction.

Martinez contends that counsel was ineffective for not moving to suppress the surveillance photos and the eyewitness identifications. He also contends that counsel was ineffective for not asking for a *Long* instruction on the factors that may affect the reliability of an eyewitness identification.¹¹

¹¹ Martinez briefly asserts that counsel should have “present[ed] an expert witness” on eyewitness identification. Aplt.Br. 16. This argument is inadequately briefed, because he provides nothing but bare assertion to support it and does not identify the factors in evidence meriting such testimony here. *See* Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9); *see, e.g., Rose v. Office of Professional Conduct*, 2017 UT 50, ¶¶64-66, 424 P.3d 134. It is also speculative because he does not identify an expert who would have testified if asked or what they would have said, nor moved for remand under rule 23B, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, to supplement the record with that information. Speculation cannot support an ineffective assistance claim. *See Munguia*, 2011 UT 5, ¶30. He thus has not proven deficient performance.

Martinez also briefly asserts that counsel should have objected on hearsay grounds to Officer Hill’s saying what he saw on the video and what Clay had said about following the suspect to Harmons. Aplt.Br. 18 (citing R939). This claim is conclusory and inadequately briefed. *See* Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9); *see, e.g., Rose v. Office of Professional Conduct*, 2017 UT 50, ¶¶64-66, 424 P.3d 134. It also fails for lack of prejudice as explained above. But reasonable counsel could conclude that objecting was baseless because these statements were offered to show why his investigation proceeded as it did, not for their truth. *See* Utah R. Evid. 801 (defining hearsay as a statement “offere[d] in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted”).

These claims fail at the outset because he has not proven prejudice. He also has not shown deficient performance.

1. Martinez cannot show prejudice because the evidence of his identity – which included DNA and a fingerprint – was overwhelming.

Where it is easier for a court to resolve an ineffective assistance claim for lack of prejudice, “that course should be followed.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697. This Court should take that course here. Even if counsel had challenged the identification evidence and asked for a *Long* instruction, it would have made no difference. The remaining evidence, and reasonable inferences from it, show beyond any doubt that Martinez was the assailant: a large amount of his DNA was in the hat that the suspect was wearing and left behind when fleeing the accident scene; his fingerprint was inside the car; his girlfriend (Vigil) was with him, in a car that they used; and several witnesses confirmed that there was no one else in the car during the crimes. R628, 791, 802-05, 897-98, 1081-86; SE23-27, 72. He fit all the descriptions of the assailant, down to the distinctive facial tattoo. R601, 653-57, 685. And Barnes’s wallet – that he took during the robbery – was inside the Harmons that he fled to. R685. Given this overwhelming evidence, it did not matter that counsel did not seek to exclude some evidence, have the jury do a photo line-up, or get a limiting instruction on eyewitness identification. There was no probability – let alone

a reasonable one – that the jury would have found differently in light of all the other identity evidence.

Martinez insists that the identification evidence was “far from overwhelming” because Barnes would have been nervous due to the robbery, Barnes and Sipes were never shown a photo lineup, Clay never identified the man in the car accident, and Vu saw the man only from behind. Aplt.Br. 16-18. But he ignores the consistency of the descriptions that they gave, the forensic evidence, Vigil’s statements and her relationship with him, the victim’s wallet being found in the store, and that no other person was seen in the car.

He also argues prejudice from this ruling because Detective Hill identified Martinez as the man in the surveillance photos. Aplt.Br. 18 (citing R945). But this would have been cumulative of Vigil’s identifying him. And as shown, the forensic and other evidence conclusively showed that it was him.

This court should affirm for lack of prejudice alone. But he also has not shown deficient performance.

2. Martinez has not shown that no reasonable attorney would have proceeded as counsel did here.

a. Counsel could reasonably decide not to challenge admissible surveillance photos and not to present a photo lineup to the jury.

Martinez asserts that defense counsel has a duty to ask the trial court to “screen [the] eyewitness identification evidence to determine whether it should or should not be admissible at trial.” Aplt.Br. 15. He then asserts that the surveillance photos themselves were eyewitness identification testimony. *Id.* at 15-16. Both assertions are wrong.

Eyewitness identification evidence is evidence from a person who points out someone based on their memory. Because human memory is fallible, courts are sometimes required to give a limiting instruction or to admit expert testimony on the subject under rule 702 when the defense requests it and the evidence merits it. *See generally State v. Clopten*, 2009 UT 84, 223 P.3d 1103; *State v. Long*, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986).

But concerns about the fallibility of human memory do not apply to a machine’s audio or visual recording of an event. Though such files are stored in a computer’s “memory,” their content—unlike human memories—is not affected by the passage of time and may be viewed objectively. For this reason, audio-visual records concerning a crime are admissible so long as they are relevant, there is sufficient foundation for them, and their probative

value is not substantially outweighed by the danger for unfair prejudice. *See* Utah R. Evid. 402 (relevant evidence generally admissible), 403 (danger for unfair prejudice), 901 (authenticating or identifying evidence); *see, e.g., State v. Kell*, 2002 UT 106, ¶¶29-44, 61 P.3d 1019 (holding videotape of prison murder admissible); *State v. Wager*, 2016 UT App 97, ¶¶10-17, 372 P.3d 91 (holding foundation sufficient to admit photograph of the defendant using drugs).

The State is not aware of – and Martinez has not cited – any case or rule requiring that video or pictures from the time of the crime are subject to any additional rules in order to be admissible. He cites *State v. Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, 357 P.3d 20, Aplt.Br. 15-16, but that case involved a person, not a machine. He also cites a proposed rule of evidence on eyewitness identification. Aplt.Br. 19-24. But this reliance is doubly flawed. First, the proposed rule, if adopted, would apply to “eyewitness identification,” not machine files.¹² *See* Proposed Utah R. Evid. 617, available at <http://www.utcourts.gov/utc/rules-comment/wpcontent/uploads/sites>

¹² Though the not-yet-in-effect rule also refers to the admissibility of photographs, this is for photos used in “an identification procedure” – like mugshots – not photos taken during the crime. *See* Proposed Utah R. Evid. 617(d), available at <http://www.utcourts.gov/utc/rules-comment/wpcontent/uploads/sites/31/2018/09/URE-Rule-617-for-comment.pdf> (last visited Feb. 4, 2019).

/31/2018/09/URE-Rule-617-for-comment.pdf (last visited Feb. 4, 2019).

Second – as Martinez admits, Aplt.Br. 19 – the proposed rule was not in effect at the time of trial, and (as of the filing of this brief) has still not been adopted by the Supreme Court. Absent rare exception – and Martinez points to none here – rules and statutes do not apply retroactively. *See generally Harvey v. Cedar Hills City*, 2010 UT 12, ¶14, 227 P.3d 256. And they certainly do not apply until they are adopted. As shown, counsel’s performance is evaluated based on the law in effect at the time of trial. *Dunn*, 850 P.2d at 1228. Even if the “principles” underlying the proposed rule existed at the time of trial, Aplt.Br. 24, none of them required exclusion of evidence based solely on whether certain procedures were not followed. At very least, reasonable counsel could see it that way.

Martinez also appears to argue that counsel should have given the jury other “realistic choice[s]” to consider – that is, the jury should have been given a photo lineup of other men besides Martinez to choose from. Aplt.Br. 16. But the State is not aware of any case, and Martinez has cited none, sanctioning – let alone requiring – in-trial line-ups for non-witnesses. It thus fails for the same reasons as above.

b. Defense counsel could reasonably decide not to request a *Long* instruction on eyewitness identification.

Martinez argues that his counsel was ineffective for not requesting an instruction under *State v. Long*, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986), to explain eyewitness identification issues. Aplt.Br. 24-30. Because the evidence of Martinez's identity was so overwhelming, defense counsel could reasonably decide not to ask for such an instruction. *See, e.g., State v. Heywood*, 2015 UT App 191, ¶37, 357 P.3d 565 (holding counsel not ineffective for not seeking *Long* instruction where factors did not justify it). Further, because none of the witnesses identified Martinez before trial, counsel could reasonably decide that there was no reason to seek such an instruction.

Martinez asserts that a *Long* instruction would have been helpful to explain the descriptions of the assailant. Aplt.Br. 29-30. But he has cited no case—and the State is aware of none—applying eyewitness identification factors to suspect *descriptions* (this is what the person looked like), rather than *identifications* (that is the person).

To the extent that two witnesses identified Martinez at trial – Sipes and Detective Hill – they did so right after discussing the photos.¹³ R621, 945. Reasonable counsel could decide that the jury was capable of making the same comparison themselves, and that no limiting instruction was necessary. *Cf. State v. Bowdrey*, 2019 UT App 3, ¶¶16-17, 882 Utah Adv. Rep. 11 (holding that *Long* does not apply to “real-time” identifications).

In sum, Martinez’s claims on eyewitness identification fail because the evidence of identification here – which included DNA and fingerprints – was overwhelming. And he has not shown that counsel acted unreasonably.

B. Martinez has not shown that his counsel was ineffective by not objecting to hearsay evidence that counsel used to argue third-party guilt.

Martinez next faults his counsel for not objecting when the prosecution played a body camera video showing a brief interview with Vigil in which she identifies “Joey” as the suspect. Aplt.Br. 31-34. This, he says, violated both the hearsay rule and his Sixth Amendment confrontation right. *Id.* But whether something is objectionable is not the issue; the issues are whether

¹³ Martinez asserts that Nathan Evans also did an “in-court identification[]” of him. Aplt.Br. 30. This is true, but misleading. Evans was the property manager of the apartments where Vigil and Martinez were living. R891. He said that Martinez and Vigil were “frequent[ly]” together and that they drove the white car. R893-98. He never identified Martinez as the suspect.

reasonable counsel could decide not to object (he could), and whether it reasonably affected the result (it didn't). See *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 382 (1986).

This Court should take the same course that the State recommends on Martinez's other ineffectiveness claims and hold there is no prejudice here. The evidence of Martinez's guilt was overwhelming: his and Vigil's fingerprints were in the car; his DNA was in the suspect's hat; two people followed him to the store where surveillance footage matched his appearance, right down to the facial tattoo; he matched every suspect description; no witness saw a third person in the car; and Barnes's wallet was found inside the store where Martinez fled. Whatever Vigil said in the body camera footage did not materially add to evidence of Martinez's guilt—indeed, it was exculpatory. Thus, even if it had not come in, there is no reasonable likelihood that the jury would have acquitted Martinez.

For similar reasons, counsel could reasonably decide not to object. As Martinez acknowledges, Aplt.Br. 31-32, counsel used the body cam discussion (as well as a stipulation, R389) to argue that the police had not done enough to find "Joey," which showed reasonable doubt. R1174-75, 1182-83 (defense closing). Though Vigil discussed more than just "Joey's" alleged identity in the video, Aplt.Br. 32-33, she ascribed all the criminal behavior to

him, and none of it to Martinez. *See* R1399-1429. Thus, counsel could have reasonably decided that the body camera footage was helpful because it was exculpatory. *See, e.g., State v. Garrido*, 2013 UT App 245, ¶21, 314 P.3d 1014 (holding counsel did not perform deficiently by not cross-examining alleged victim because her testimony was exculpatory).

Martinez argues that letting in the body camera footage was “particularly questionable” because defense counsel undermined Vigil’s credibility by asking whether she was arrested for obstruction of justice. *Aplt.Br.* 33 (citing R1022, 1048). But counsel’s actions were not inconsistent, because counsel argued that Vigil’s obstruction was an act of self-preservation – to protect herself from “Joey.” R1182 (defense closing).

II.

Martinez has not shown cumulative prejudice from five largely unpreserved claims because they were either not errors or not prejudicial.

Martinez finally argues that this Court should reverse for cumulative prejudice from five different alleged errors: (1) lack of authentication for the surveillance photos; (2) an officer testifying that a witness had identified Martinez when the witness had not; (3) one of the jurors knowing one of the testifying officers; (4) the trial court allegedly coaching a witness; and (5) an officer testifying that he knew Martinez’s father. *Aplt.Br.* 34-38.

These claims are inadequately briefed. Each consists of a few conclusory sentences with little or no analysis, with all five occupying a mere page and a half. *See* Aplt.Br. 35-36. Martinez thus has not carried his burden of persuasion on appeal. *See* Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9); *see, e.g., Rose*, 2017 UT 50, ¶¶64-66. They are also meritless. Because most of these claims are unpreserved, he raises them under the rubrics of ineffective assistance and plain error. *Id.* Martinez has shown no error or no prejudice for each one.

As explained, to show ineffective assistance, he must prove both deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. To show plain error, he must prove obvious, prejudicial error. *State v. Dean*, 2004 UT 63, ¶15, 95 P.3d 276. Though plain error and ineffective assistance are distinct doctrines focusing on different actors, their analyses often overlap. *See State v. Brunn & Diderickson*, 2017 UT App 182, ¶39, 405 P.3d 905 (noting that obviousness element of plain error and deficient performance element of ineffective assistance both depend on law in effect at time of decision). The prejudice standard for both doctrines is identical. *State v. Litherland*, 2000 UT 76, ¶31 n.14, 12 P.3d 92 (explaining that plain error and ineffective assistance share a “common” prejudice standard). It is often true that counsel acts reasonably by not raising non-obvious errors. *See State v. Hall*, 946 P.2d 712, 720 (Utah App. 1997) (“[I]f an error was not obvious to the trial court, it most

likely was not obvious to trial counsel.”). And if there is no underlying error, both claims necessarily fail. *See, e.g., State v. Kelley*, 2000 UT 41, ¶26, 1 P.3d 546 (“Failure to raise futile objections does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.”); *State v. Gailey*, 2015 UT App 249, ¶7, 360 P.3d 805 (“Defendant’s claim of plain error is unavailing because there was no error, plain or otherwise.”).

Further, to reverse on a cumulative prejudice, the Court would have to conclude that the combined prejudice from all these alleged errors undermines its confidence in the fairness of the proceedings. *Dunn*, 850 P.2d at 1229. That cannot be said here.

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